



Ph.D. Dissertation of Engineering

# Identifying trade-offs and opportunities for forest carbon storage and endangered species habitat in South Korea

February 2023

Graduate School of Seoul National University Interdisciplinary Program in Landscape Architecture

Jing Rong Zhu

# Identifying trade-offs and opportunities for forest carbon storage and endangered species habitat in South Korea

Advisor: Dong-Kun Lee

Submitting a Ph.D. Dissertation of Public Administration

February 2023

**Graduate School of Seoul National University** Interdisciplinary Doctoral Program in Landscape Architecture

Jing Rong Zhu

# **Confirming the Ph.D. Dissertation written by** Jing Rong Zhu February 2023

| Chair      | (Seal) |
|------------|--------|
| Vice Chair | (Seal) |
| Examiner   | (Seal) |
| Examiner   | (Seal) |
| Examiner   | (Seal) |

## Abstract

# Identifying trade-offs and opportunities for forest carbon storage and endangered species habitat in South Korea

## **Jing Rong Zhu**

Interdisciplinary Program in Landscape Architecture,

Graduate School, Seoul National University

Supervised by Professor Dong-Kun Lee

Protecting the endangered species habitat while attempting to limit climate change, for example by storing carbon in forests, is a major problem for managers of natural resources on a warming globe. With advantages for endangered species and decreases in atmospheric carbon, carbon offset funds provide important prospects for the preservation and restoration of natural ecosystems. endangered species, Nevertheless, may suffer if locations with rich carbon stores do not spatially correspond with the priority habitat needs of endangered species. Although species diversity and carbon stocks are generally consistent, effective conservation calls for the inclusion of more precise measurements of habitat for endangered species. Based on recent data and the Zonation Prioritizing Program, this

research examined the geographical trade-off between carbon and habitat priority for endangered species in South Korea. For five sample endangered species, priority sites for potential carbon sequestration (maximum potential biomass) were identified by iteratively weighing the carbon in the endangered species' habitat. Nevertheless, considerable areas crucial for endangered species habitat would be lost if prioritization was based only on carbon sequestration capacity. It is necessary to enhance policy frameworks to eliminate obstacles to landowner involvement in carbon storage projects that boost endangered species habitat and to mandate that both the carbon captured and the endangered species habitat be extra. It will be very beneficial for both the endangered species habitat and carbon storage if the endangered species habitat is properly taken into account when determining the region's priority for land-based carbon storage. Nevertheless, in certain ecosystems, sequestration and maximizing carbon storage and safeguarding endangered species' habitats may not be mutually exclusive. In contrast to persistently supporting a high stocking rate or mature forest conditions that eliminate species that prefer open or young stands as a result of promoting early successional forest conditions, promoting early successional forest conditions does not increase carbon storage at the stand level. The research on the trade-offs between carbon dioxide emissions and preserving the habitats of endangeredspecies in South Korean woods is briefly summarized here. In

each instance, activities of human beings have greatly reduced the impact of natural disturbances; thus, it is usually necessary to restore or imitate these disturbances in order to conserve the habitat, even if it means less carbon is stored at the stand level. We propose that managers and planners can discuss these trade-offs and steer clear of unfavorable behaviors that could eventually reduce adaptive capacity by using the region to maximize carbon storage and endangered species habitat. Instead, planning for landscape-scale adaptation to climate that supports a diversity of habitats and maximizes forest carbon storage can be facilitated by a critical assessment of the effects of stand-level management actions for both carbon and conservation of endangered species.

**Keywords**: Carbon storage; Endangered species habitat; Distribution; Trade-off; Synergies; Invest; Maxent.

Student Number: 2019-38865

# Table of contents

| Abstracti  |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| Table of contentsiv  |  |  |
| List of Tablesvii  |  |  |
| List of Figures viii   |  |  |
| I. Introduction1   |  |  |
| 1. Study Background1   |  |  |
| 2. Purpose of Research4  |  |  |
| II. Literature review5   |  |  |
| 1. Relationship between carbon dioxide and the endangered species habitat5 |  |  |
| 2. Research on carbon storage and endangered species                       |  |  |
| III. Materials and methods12   |  |  |
| 1. Study flow11  |  |  |
| 2. Study sites and the datasets14  |  |  |
| 2.1. Study sites   |  |  |

|  | 15                         |
|--|----------------------------|
| 2.3. Endangered species habitat model  | 19                         |
| 2.3.1 Habitat Distribution Prediction Map  | 19                         |
| 2.3.2 Target species   | 19                         |
| 2.3.3 Environmental factor   | 21                         |
| 2.3.4 Accuracy Assessment  | 21                         |
| 2.4. Synergies and Trade-offs  | 23                         |
| IV. Results  | 25                         |
| 1.Description of the components that make up the InVEST carbon sto   | orage and                  |
| sequestration model  | 25                         |
| 1.1 Spatial distribution of the land cover   |                            |
|  | 25                         |
| 1.2. Carbon Pools Table  | 25                         |
| <ul><li>1.2. Carbon Pools Table</li><li>1.3. InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model outputs</li></ul>   | 25<br>27<br>29             |
| <ul> <li>1.2. Carbon Pools Table</li> <li>1.3. InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model outputs</li> <li>2. Habitat prediction model and accuracy verification</li> </ul>                                   | 25<br>27<br>29<br>34       |
| <ol> <li>1.2. Carbon Pools Table</li> <li>1.3. InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model outputs</li> <li>2. Habitat prediction model and accuracy verification</li> <li>2.1 Species Distribution</li> </ol> | 25<br>27<br>29<br>34<br>34 |

| 2.1.2 Distribution of Lutra                                      |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| 2.1.3 Distribution of Martes flavigula koreana                   |  |  |
| 2.1.4 Distribution of Ninox Scutulat                             |  |  |
| 2.1.5 Distribution of Prionailurus40                             |  |  |
| 2.2 Normalization41  |  |  |
| 2.2.1 Normalized endangered species diversity prediction model41 |  |  |
| 2.2.2 Normalized carbon storage44                                |  |  |
| 2.3 Trade-off and Synergies48                                    |  |  |
| V. Discussion  |  |  |
| VI. Conclusion   |  |  |
| Bibliography   |  |  |

# **List of Tables**

Table 2 Carbon storage in each Land cover type in the Chungcheongnam-do ...48

# **List of Figures**

| Fig. 1 Study sites  |
|---|
| Fig. 2 Study sites  |
| Fig. 3 Spatial distribution of the land cover using Satellite Image in 202227     |
| Fig. 4 Carbon storage map of South Korea using InVEST model in the study sites    |
|   |
| Fig. 5 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon pools in each Land cover class |
| in the study sites  |
| Fig. 6 Habitat prediction of Accipitersoloensis                                   |
| Fig. 7 Habitat prediction of Lutra  |
| Fig. 8 Habitat prediction of Ninox Scutulat                                       |
| Fig. 9 Habitat prediction of Ninox Scutulat                                       |
| Fig. 10 Habitat prediction of Prionailurus Bengalensis40                          |
| Fig. 11 Normalized endangered species diversity prediction model41                |
| Fig. 12 Carbon storage map of South Korea using InVEST model43                    |
| Fig. 13 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon storage in each               |

| Fig. | 14 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon storage in each Land cover        |
|------|--|
|      | in the study sites45   |
| Fig. | 15 The priority areas in the region of South korea. Left to right: a) Endangered |
|      | species habitat ; b) Endangered species habitat and carbon are weighted          |
|      | equally; and c) carbon storage only. The far right map d) shows the              |
|      | distribution of the area above the overlapping48                                 |

# I. Introduction

#### 1. Study Background

A crucial tactic for reducing emissions of carbon dioxide and adapting to climate change is maintaining and restoring natural ecosystems (i.e., Paris Agreement, 2015). Priorities for carbon as well as endangered species habitat may not, Nevertheless, coincide in time or place (Anderson et al., 2009; Strasburg et al., 2010; Venter et al., 2009). (Martin et al., 2013). This is especially true for areas with a high concentration of narrowly dispersed endemic species: nearby areas with high carbon values may have very diverse species assemblages and hence have differing conservation values. To maximize long-term conservation benefits, it is also vital to consider how climate change could modify future priorities for carbon and endangered species habitat. For this reason, metrics for endangered species' habitat should be carefully chosen and verified.

The leading worldwide cause of species extinction, habitat loss for endangered species, is occurring at an alarming pace (Forrest et al., 2015). (Dirzo and Raven, 2003). In addition, the second-largest source of human greenhouse gas emissions is deforestation (Gullison et al., 2007). In order to reduce emissions of carbon dioxide and save biodiversity, it is essential to preserve forests and natural ecosystems, both now (by preserving present habitats) and in the future (by preventing climate change) (Houghton et al., 2015). There is a chance to reduce deforestation rates and safeguard or improve carbon storage via mechanisms like the UN's REDD+ (Reducing Emissions

from Deforestation and Forest Degradation) (Harvey et al., 2010) and different local carbon markets (Polglase et al., 2013). According to Houghton et al. (2015), these processes may also help with extensive restoration, which might have positive effects on biodiversity and emissions of carbon dioxide (Alexander et al., 2011; Martin et al., 2013). Nevertheless, in order to secure actual benefits for both, especially where endemism is significant, site-based studies are required to confirm global evaluations of spatial priority for carbon and endangered species habitat (Anderson et al., 2009; Magnago et al., 2015).

The extensive corpus of research looking at carbon and the endangered species habitat preferences shows an understanding of the risk that climate change poses to systems, this risk would persist even if land-based carbon storage increased substantially (Gullison et al., 2007; Metz et al., 2007). In spite of this acknowledgement, the majority of research fails to take into account the importance of endangered species' habitats. Regardless of whether these regions are now top priorities for biodiversity conservation, ongoing conservation of endangered species' habitats will need the preservation or restoration of areas that will endure or become suitable under anticipated climate change. In order to avoid less-than-ideal conservation results, analyses of trade-offs between endangered species habitat and carbon storage should include the present needs of the species (Kujala et al., 2013).

Planning for the future is essential for assessing carbon storage since it may assist identify both areas with a high potential for sequestration and those with a high concentration of carbon storage already. A crucial step in protecting the endangered species habitat is the restoration of damaged and deforested ecosystems, which also provides considerable chances to trap carbon and draw in money for carbon offset projects. Where species are anticipated to need to spread into presently unvegetated regions in order to retain their appropriate range, restoration is especially advantageous. This calls for estimations of the potential habitat value for endangered species as well as assessments of the potential value of carbon sequestration and storage (hereinafter "carbon storage") at a location.

Considerable progress has been achieved in accounting for potential climate change when planning conservation efforts, from developing basic ideas to finding workable solutions (Jones et al., 2016; Mawdsley et al., 2009; Schmitz et al., 2015). In order to help animals monitor their climatic niche and create new habitat, several studies have identified priority locations for conservation and restoration (Jones et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2005). Planning for numerous advantages is what is lacking (in this case, endangered species habitat as well as carbon storage). In addition to enabling climate change mitigation, taking numerous benefits into account opens up the potential for a conservation sector that is badly underfunded to profit from the carbon offset markets.

## 2. Purpose of Research

Local species variety, ecosystem health, and regional habitat conditions across a larger area with a comparable natural assemblage of endangered species are all examples of markers of endangered species.

In this study, our goals were to (1) characterize the broad linkages between production possibilities for combinations of carbon storage, wood, and endangered species habitat, and (2) pinpoint the management factors that have the most impact on joint production relationships. To help with forest planning, identify synergies and trade-offs between these parameters.

This informational synthesis could help operationalize spatial goals, guide spatially explicit national forest evaluations of possible co-benefits, and help decide whether conservation efforts should be reactive or proactive.

# **II.** Literature review

1. Relationship between carbon dioxide and the endangered species habitat

It is encouraging to see the importance of intact forests being recognized more and more as a natural climate solution. Fortunately, a large number of restoration and forest management techniques that aim to increase carbon storage and sequestration can also help many forests endangered species, for whom increased in situ carbon directly translates to increasingly improved habitat circumstances. For instance, carbon is stored in large quantities in old, structurally complicated, hardwood stands with a lot of snags and felled timber (Ford & Keeton, 2017), while also serving as a crucial habitat for animals like the yellow-throated marten, the leopard cat, and H. interims (Martes flavigula koreana). Many other, frequently fragile, endangered species, on the other hand, rely on habitat types, like early successional forests or open woods, that are frequently maintained by disturbance and thus naturally store less carbon, which naturally store less carbon.

What happens when disturbance-focused measures to increase critical habitat for endangered forest endangered animals clash with initiatives to maximize carbon in the soil? As public pressure grows to avoid any forest management that is perceived to compromise the storage of carbon, many managers are acutely aware of this question, this study have heard these worries over and over again from people all over the region, both in targeted conversations with natural resource managers and in more formal listening sessions (Janowiak et al., 2020) and surveys (Schattman et al., 2021). The significance of preserving varied habitat conditions is often overlooked, even in the expanding number of studies addressing the link between carbon storage as well as forest endangered habitat or biodiversity. Before suggesting it could assist us in managing these possible trade-offs between carbon and habitat for endangered species, we quickly explore this research in this article. In our local South Korea forest area, there is not yet a lot of literature on this link.

## 2. Research on carbon storage and endangered species

In addition to functioning as habitat elements that some species respond to, certain carbon pools (such as living trees or dead wood) have the capacity to swing the carbon equation one way or the other. This trade-off between carbon storage and endangered species habitat may be most evident at the stand size, which is generally on the order of one to 100 hectares (Crosby et al., 2020; Hunter, 2005). With few significant exceptions, most studies that have looked at the connection between carbon and endangered species, or biodiversity more broadly, have done so at wide scales or have not addressed how different species react to these "microfilter" habitat components (Hunter, 2005). Therefore, without

-6-

careful scientific evidence, the link between carbon storage and the results of the distribution of habitat for endangered species is often assumed and generalized as being favorable. Nevertheless, other research has issued a warning that this apparent association might be significantly influenced by the geographical scale of the investigation (e.g., Blumstein & Thompson, 2015).

Numerous studies explore the relationship between measures for and endangered species (such carbon sequestration as habitat appropriateness indices) and forest management. One study, for instance, used a forest growth and yield model to simulate harvest scenarios in Vermont with varied levels of tree retention and then compared the results to occupancy models for more than 50 bird species. More extensive prescriptions were shown to increase biodiversity results but diminish in situ carbon storage because of the variety of habitat needs (Schwenk et al., 2012). Simulation research carried out in Missouri found that there was uncertainty regarding the relationship between changes in bird populations and management-driven carbon storage (carbon storage was inferred, not quantified; LeBrun et al., 2017). Most of these studies fail to explain how small variations in carbon storage effect small variations in habitat, however a few mentions structural components (such snags) as significant modulators (e.g., Kline et al., 2016). The carbon dynamics linked to leakage or the movement of harvesting operations to other locations when harvesting is curtailed in one place are conspicuously lacking from this research on forest management. The carbon results of forest management studies should not neglect the larger carbon dynamics that are eventually, if indirectly, influenced by management choices, even if management prescriptions alone cannot resolve this market problem.

Others have looked at regions with high habitat quality, abundance of species, as well as carbon storage concentrations, sometimes known as "hotspots," across a wide range of geographic scales. Perhaps not unexpectedly, these hotspots often exist in the most intact natural landscapes or officially protected regions (Blumstein & Thompson, 2015; Hanna et al., 2020; Lecina-Diaz et al., 2018), albeit the advantages for endangered species differ by taxonomic and species guild (Polasky et al., 2011). These findings may aid in the determination of conservation priorities at large geographic scales, but they may not be as important for stand-level management.

In other instances, a closer look at a single species uncovers more complex patterns of interactions between endangered species. In comparison to non-tribal regions, Ojibwe and Menominee tribe forests maintain better carbon storage due in part to lower densities of white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) (Waller & Reo, 2018). Low-density longleaf pine (Pinus palustris), which is maintained by periodic fire in the southeast of the United States, is a need for red-cockaded woodpeckers (Picoides borealis). It was found that, on a stand-level, continuing carbon sequestration would not be consistent with the restoration of woodpecker habitat because of a simulation of thinning and managed fire. (2015) Martin et al. Bird diversity and abundance in central California fell three decades following riparian forest restoration, whereas tree biomass (carbon) both above and below ground increased. This was the only research we could find that explicitly assessed management impacts on both tree carbon and animal populations. Most of the research extrapolates advantages to endangered species from habitat components, intactness, or suitability indices, except for this instance (Dybala et al., 2019). While many species may be represented by these fair proxies, equating, for instance, increased aboveground tree biomass with higher advantages for endangered species ignores the possibility that it is possible that some species will benefit, and others will not.

Others have investigated the possible effects of forest carbon storage programs on the endangered species habitat more widely. Researchers in the Pacific Northwest linked an econometric model with models of species distribution for 35 vertebrates that depend on forests, and they concluded that the availability of carbon markets is likely to amplify habitat loss predicted under climate change, primarily as a result of modifications to landowner planting techniques (Hashida et al., 2020). Others have demonstrated how funding from forest carbon offsets may cut the price of purchasing property for habitat protection, having a positive effect on biodiversity (Schuster et al., 2014). Importantly, several studies have looked at the ecological and social effects of international carbon programs (like REDD+), noting how the advantages for endangered species may be restricted or, at best, unequally distributed (Beaudrot et al., 2016; Phelps et al., 2012; Seddon et al., 2020). Nevertheless, trade-offs and possible synergies are undoubtedly not restricted to South Korea. In this article, we concentrate on carbon storage and habitat concerns for endangered species in the South Korean area.

Above all, this short assessment of the literature demonstrates how nuanced the relationship between carbon and endangered species is and how it is important to not lose sight of the subtleties of species-specific habitat needs. We need direct characterizations of trade-offs that span several scales, are species-specific, and are empirical (not inferred). This is especially true when new programs continue to emerge that, in the name of carbon, constantly promote increased stocking and mature conditions across all forest and woodland types. Instead, the carbon calculus should consider the effects on individual stands, where management actions are implemented, as well as the wider landscape in which these stands are located, where planning for conservation and climate adaption must be performed.

# **III. Materials and methods**

## 1. Study flow

There are two parts to this research. Predicting the distribution of carbon storage as well as habitats for endangered species is the goal of the first session in order to identify any disparities between them. For upcoming national conservation and management plans, the second session will uncover trade-offs and synergies between carbon storage and habitat distribution for endangered species. The findings will help identify high-priority conservation sites that provide several advantages.



Fig 1 Study flow

### 2. Study sites and the datasets

### 2.1. Study sites

South Korea, often referred to as the Republic of Korea, is a country in East Asia that is located on the southernmost point of the Korean Peninsula, which extends from the far eastern region of the Asian continent. The sole country that shares a land border with South Korea is North Korea, and their 238-kilometer border follows the Korean Demilitarized Zone (DMZ). South Korea is mostly ringed by water and has a 2,413-kilometer coastline along three seas. Ulleung Island and Dokdo Island lie in the East Sea, which is bordered by the Yellow Sea to the west, the East China Sea to the south, and the Yellow Sea to the east. The general location is around 37° North and 127° 30' East.

It is estimated that 41,500 species make up the Republic of Korea's biota, of which 8,150 have been evaluated (Table 2). These species include fish, vascular plants, birds, reptiles and amphibians, mammals, and fish. One thousand two hundred twenty-one of these species (8.7%) are listed on the Red List. The Japanese sea lion (Zalophus japonicus), the only species, was considered extinct (EX). The IUCN Red List also classified this species as extinct. Five mammal species are among the ten species that are regarded in the Republic of Korea as regionally extinct.



Fig 2 Study sites

#### 2.2. Estimation of the Carbon Storage

The InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model program, developed by the Natural Capital Project (www.naturalcapitalproject.org), was used to determine carbon stocks in the study area. By aggregating the carbon pool values given to every land cover type, the overall amount of carbon stored in the study region is calculated based on the carbon cycle via the InVEST carbon model (Sharp et al. 2018). According to the model (1), the carbon density of every form of land cover (*i*) is indicated in Eq (1).

$$C_i = C_{i(above)} + C_{i(below)} + C_{i(dead)} + C_{i(soil)}$$
(1)

In this formula,  $C_{i(above)}$  represents the carbon density of biomass above ground in the *i*th Land cover type (tons/ha),  $C_{i(below)}$  represents the carbon density of belowground biomass in the *i*th Land cover type (tons/ ha),  $C_{i(dead)}$  represents the carbon density of dead organic materials in the *i*th Land cover type (tons/ha), and  $C_{i(soil)}$  represents the carbon density of soil in the *i*th Land cover type (tons/ha). Based on Eq. 2, the model software calculates the sum of carbon sequestered in the research area.

$$C_{total} = \sum_{i}^{n} \quad C_{i} + A_{i} \tag{2}$$

In this formula,  $C_{total}$  represents the total carbon storage within the study region (tons), n represents the amount of Land cover types within the study region, and  $A_i$  represents the area of every Land cover type (ha).

The initial information needed to run the InVEST carbon storage as well as sequestration model were land cover information for the research region and carbon density information for every kind of land cover in the study region, as stated by Sharp et al. (2018).

The land cover information was saved as a land cover raster map in accordance with the specifications of the InVEST carbon storage modelling program. The mapping program ArcGIS 10.8 was used to process the land cover raster map. The Survey Department of the Ministry of Environment originally provided the South Korean Ministry of Environment with its digital land cover data. To extract the land cover of South Korea in the ArcGIS environment, the land cover polygon shapefile of South Korea was cut. The Feature to Raster tool in ArcGIS was then used to turn the clipped polygon map into a raster dataset. In the carbon pools table, carbon information should be included. The input was added at the time of conversion and is therefore necessary to run the model, as further detailed by Sharp et al. (2018), and every land cover type in the attribute table was given a unique land cover code. Carbon pool table: A comma-separated values table (CSV file) containing carbon pool values was created in accordance with the specifications of the InVEST carbon modelling program. Values for each of the four carbon pools (the aboveground, belowground, dead organic matter, and soil carbon pools) for every kind of land cover were included in this table. For every kind of land

cover, the carbon pool values were taken from previously published literature. According to Brown (1997), quantifying aboveground carbon storage is difficult, labor-intensive, and time-consuming. As one of the sources of carbon information trustworthy globally, most the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 2006 report was used to collect aboveground carbon information (Hiraishi et al. 2014; Sharp et al. 2018). In addition, a variety of different information sources were utilised to gather and contrast information on aboveground carbon storage (Coomes et al., 2002; Grace et al., 2006; Malhi, 2006; Socolow and Pacala, 2006). The IPCC 2006 report included the carbon storage estimates for the below-ground carbon pools of various land cover types (Hiraishi et al., 2014; Sharp et al., 2018). According to Sharp et al. (2018), the "root to shoot" ratio approach was used to determine the below-ground carbon storage values of the land cover type comprising woody biomass (Cairns et al., 1997; Grace et al., 2006). Additionally, information on soil carbon as well as dead matter carbon densities was gathered from research published before (Chacko et al. 2019; Paquit 2017). In accordance with the needle, it was divided into seven categories. InVEST 3.7 software was then used to run the model while integrating the land cover raster dataset and the CSV file that contains carbon pool data. There was a user-defined workspace folder in which the final maps and information tables were placed for this model run.

## 2.3. Endangered species habitat model

### 2.3.1 Habitat Distribution Prediction Map

The 5th National Survey, for which location information was gathered, provided the species data. information from the 5th National Natural Environment Survey (2019) and the Annual Environmental Survey (2019–2023) were utilized. The 5th National Natural Environment Survey separated areas into categories based on their water systems and forest cover, then studied representative mountains within every category. In contrast, the survey unit for the fifth survey was a 1:25,000 topographic map that was split into 9 grids of 2'30" in accordance with latitude and longitude. every grid was then transformed into a map unit survey that investigates Simply plant a 1:25,000 topographic map in the area where there are terrestrial insects. As with the 5th National Natural Environment Survey, the survey is conducted on a unit basis, and vegetation is assessed regionally (Ministry of the Environment, 2022). The whole nation will be surveyed during the fifth National Natural Environment Survey. It is presently being implemented and should be finished in 2023. The south and the north are the two geographically distinct sections of the nation, and every is inspected annually.

## 2.3.2 Target species

Five species that might serve as a good representation of the diversity of species found in native forests were chosen using the following criteria.

First, creatures in the top echelon of the food chain with a vast range were taken into consideration, including umbrella species. Umbrella species are those with the greatest habitat requirements, allowing for the conservation of several species with varying habitat needs even if just one of those species is protected, which is particularly beneficial for protecting an ecosystem or a particular habitat (Roberge and Angelstam, 2004). As a result, martens at the top of the food chain in domestic forests were chosen for this investigation with preference. The marten is particularly significant in domestic ecosystem studies because it fulfils the functions of umbrella species and spore, and its home range, which ranges from 22.3 to 59.1 km2, is several times bigger than that of other comparable medium-sized animals. The marten was likewise selected for the same reasons as Martes flavigula koreana.

Second, species that might potentially be sensitive to development initiatives at the border of the forest were chosen because they can live both within and outside the forest. As a result, Ninoxscutulata and Accipitersoloensis were chosen. These species use forest margins (such as arable land, lowland forests, thickets) as refuges, resting spots, and food sources in addition to being in the top echelon of the food chain. The lutra was chosen as a medium- to large-sized animal in addition to the forest edge birds. The following five species were then studied: Felis Bengalensis, Euptilura, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Accipitersoloensis, as well as Ninoxscutulata.

Finally, the following five species were then studied: Felis Bengalensis, Euptilura, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Accipitersoloensis, as well as Ninoxscutulata. To determine the species distribution, a species distribution model was applied.

## 2.3.3 Environmental factor

By using the species distribution model (SDM) on the five species mentioned

-19-

above—Felis Bengalensis Euptilura, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Accipitersoloensis, as well as Ninoxscutulata—and determining potential habitats, as well as averaging and standardising them—the species richness map was created.

The MaxENT model (Phillips et al. 2006; Seo et al. 2008; Song and Kim, 2012; Kim et al., 2013) was chosen from among the several species distribution models (SDM). Species habitat-related environmental parameters need to be chosen in order to utilise MaxENT. The following variables were chosen: soil (sand, silt, CaCO3, clay) geography (digital elevation model, slope, aspect) and climatic (bio1, bio2, bio3, bio4, bio5, bio6, bio7, bio8, bio9, bio10, bio11, bio12, bio13, bio14, bio15, bio16, bio17, bio18, bio19) data (Wordclim- https://www.worldclim.org). The study team's most current access to national information was used to analyze the variables, which were then built with an 800 m spatial resolution. The AUC area under the ROC curves was used to assess the model accuracy of the MaxENT findings using at least 7 occurrence information (Franklin, 2009). At this point, the prediction accuracy increases as the AUC number gets closer to 1.0.

The five species' potential occurrence probabilities from using MaxENT are based on the "maximum training sensitivity plus specificity" value, where the sum of sensitivity (prediction rate of occurrence area) and specificity (prediction rate of nonoccurrence area) is maximum (inhabited area, 1) and non-occurrence (inhabited area, 0). (Hu and Jiang, 2011; Heibl and Renner, 2012; Jeon et al., 2014; Kim Ji-yeon et al., 2014). The five species' binomial information were overlapped, added, and standardized to a value between 0 and 1 before being combined into a single number.

#### 2.3.4 Accuracy Assessment

The MaxENT model, which has a greater prediction accuracy and has been shown in several prior studies, was utilized in this investigation to predict just the appearance information, eliminating the non-appearance information about the species (Phillips et al., 2006; Elith et al., 2006). Based on information regarding the target species' appearance, the MaxENT model, which is based on regression analysis, predicts the distribution of wildlife using a maximum entropy technique. As a consequence, findings with the greater predictive ability may be obtained by using solely species appearance information as the dependent variable (Phillips et al., 2004). The independent variable needs variables that describe the properties of the environment, whereas the dependent variable needs information on species' appearance (specifics about the location of the target organism).

MaxENT is a model that only uses appearance data and has greater predictive accuracy when just appearance information is used than other models; hence, it is often employed lately (Pearson et al., 2007; Chang-Wan Seo et al., 2008). The analysis utilised MaxENT 3.3.2. The ROC measures every model's accuracy (Receiver Operating Characteristic). It was calculated using the cross-validation AUC (Area Under Cover) value after ten iterations (Thuiller, 2003).

The habitat potential was evaluated in this research by using environmental factors as independent variables and the occurrence information of five endangered species that are also natural monuments as dependent variables. The receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve's area under the curve (AUC) was used to assess the model's capacity for explanation. Based on the appearance information supplied to the model, reliability was confirmed. Additionally, the interpretation of the variable response curve created as a consequence of the investigation and an estimation of habitat features was used to evaluate the link between animals and certain environmental factors.

According to Ekness and Randhir, the degree of disturbance based on the intermediate land cover categorization was identified and scored to indicate land use disturbance (2007). Industrial and transportation regions, which are thought to have a high degree of land use disturbance, received high ratings, while wetlands and wooded areas, which are thought to have a low degree of disturbance, had low scores (Ekness and Randhir, 2007). The primary land cover categorization used by the Ministry of the Environment is the basis for land use status.

### 2.4. Trade-off and Synergies

This research used a variety of techniques to examine the degree to which carbon priorities were geographically linked with habitats for endangered species. First, we tested whether carbon was related to the species richness of all endangered avian and birds and mammals using linear least squares regression. The distribution models were combined to get the model species richness.

In this research, the possible geographical overlap of habitat priority for endangered species and carbon was examined using the land use prioritization program Zonation (Moilanen et al., 2014). The Zonation algorithm, which considers connection requirements and endangered species habitat priority at various points in time, repeatedly eliminates the least desirable cells from the landscape while minimizing the marginal loss of conservation score.

Although there were five species in the study area, their ranges were too narrow to fit precise distribution models at this resolution. These five species' occurrence locations were therefore hidden (Moilanen et al., 2014). The integration of the uncertainty analysis utilized the distribution discounting function (Moilanen et al., 2006). The standard deviation of the Maxent result for 2022 used as the basis for the uncertainty maps for the habitat of the model species. The default value of the distribution discounting rate ( $\alpha$ ) was set to 1.0, which resulted in a one-standarddeviation reduction in the mean estimate for each species in each grid cell. Therefore, cells with greater expected suitability uncertainty were given less weight (Kujala et al., 2013).

The performance curves were used to assess the marginal loss of habitat for endangered species and carbon storage for each zonation run. The key conservation measures needed for this area are to rehabilitate destroyed and degraded regions and safeguard ecosystems from logging and other human-caused changes. As a result, The study did not restrict the sites with priority to those with native vegetation already in place., allowing for the prioritization of locations for restoration work that could be crucial for the endangered species habitat or for carbon sequestration. The research is meant to assist NRM investment plans when combined with thorough on-the-ground evaluation and stakeholder involvement, but it does not identify the conservation measures needed in each priority region. By superimposing the ideal zonation solutions over the mapped forest regions (Accad and Neldner, 2015), investigations were carried out on the possibility of restoration in priority areas. The degree to which endangered species habitats and carbon storage priorities reside outside of current protected areas was also looked at to examine the feasibility of developing additional protected areas (DSEWPaC, 2010).

Therefore, opportunities to stop more deforestation should be investigated, especially in the high-priority regions. Strong regulatory frameworks must be combined with opportunities and incentives to minimize vegetation loss in order to prevent largescale clearance. Both regulations and incentives are required to prevent additional habitat loss for endangered species (Evans, 2016).
# **IV. Results**

1. Description of the components that make up the InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model

1.1 Spatial distribution of the land cover

Fig. 3 displays the developed Land cover raster map of the research region. The research region was mostly made up of 22 different types of land cover, according to the generated Land cover raster map, namely, Residential, Industrial, Commercial, Communication, Transportation, Public Utilities, Paddy Field, Non-Irrigated Land, Protected Cultivation, Orchard, Other Cropland, Deciduous Forest Land, Coniferous Forest Land, Mixed Forest Land, Natural Grassland, Non-Natural Grassland, Inland Wetland, Coastal Wetland, Natural Barren Land, Non-Natural Barren Land, Inland Water and Seawater. As a result, the research site may be considered one of the provinces that is most suited for examining the carbon storing capabilities of various Land cover types. With the help of the Tabulate Area Tool of the Spatial Analyst extension in the ArcGIS environment, the area percentages of each Land cover category were determined. The natural forests took up the biggest area, accounting for 61.7% (6,098,000 hectares) of the research sites, among the 22 Land cover categories.



Fig 3 Spatial distribution of the land cover using Satellite Image in 2022

### 1.2. Carbon Pools Table

The model's second main input is the carbon pool table. Table 1 displays the formed carbon pool table. The results table shows that Mixed Forest Land (140 tons/ha) had the highest predicted values for above-ground carbon pools, followed by Deciduous Forest Land (130 tons/ha), Coniferous Forest Land (120 tons/ha), Natural Grassland (15 tons/ha), Orchard (15 tons/ha), and Rice Field (10 tons/ha). Additionally, non-natural grassland had an estimated aboveground carbon pool value of 5 tons per hectare,

compared to 3 tons per hectare for other crops and other cultivations. According to the data for the aboveground carbon pool, there is an exact correlation between the amount of woody material and the amount of carbon stored aboveground in the study region. Wetlands (both inland and coastal), barren land (both natural and non-natural), populated regions, and land cover types with water bodies all had a value of 0 for aboveground carbon storage. Additionally, similar to above-ground carbon storage, the below-ground carbon values of various land cover types vary greatly. Broadleaved forest (75 tons/ha) and coniferous and mixed woodland (70 tons/ha), natural grassland (35 tons/ha), orchard (30 tons/ha), paddy (5 tons/ha), and non-natural grassland (5 tons/ha) had the greatest estimated belowground carbon pool values. The estimated above-ground carbon values for non-irrigated land were 4 tons/ha, whereas the values for each protected crop were 3 tons/ha and the values for other crops were 2 tons/ha. In this research, soil carbon storage values varied less noticeably across land cover types than above- and below-ground carbon storage values. According to Paquit (2017), since it is difficult to measure carbon data in dead wood in the field, when evaluating the carbon density in dead matter, only litter carbon data were often taken into account. This challenge is brought on by uncertainties in carbon emissions to the environment, deadwood and soil, and litter.

| No | LUCODE | LULC                    | C_above | C_below | C_soil | C_dead |
|----|--------|-------------------------|---------|---------|--------|--------|
| 1  | 110    | Residential             | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 2  | 120    | Industrial              | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 3  | 130    | Commercial              | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 4  | 140    | Communication           | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 5  | 150    | Transportation          | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 6  | 160    | Public Utilities        | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 7  | 210    | Paddy Field             | 10      | 5       | 20     | 0      |
| 8  | 220    | Non-Irrigated Land      | 8       | 4       | 16     | 0      |
| 9  | 230    | Protected Cultivation   | 6       | 3       | 15     | 0      |
| 10 | 240    | Orchard                 | 15      | 30      | 20     | 0      |
| 11 | 250    | Other Cropland          | 3       | 2       | 8      | 1      |
| 12 | 310    | Deciduous Forest Land   | 130     | 75      | 35     | 12     |
| 13 | 320    | Coniferous Forest Land  | 120     | 70      | 35     | 12     |
| 14 | 330    | Mixed Forest Land       | 140     | 70      | 35     | 12     |
| 15 | 410    | Natural Grassland       | 15      | 35      | 30     | 4      |
| 16 | 420    | Non-Natural Grassland   | 5       | 5       | 15     | 2      |
| 17 | 510    | Inland Wetland          | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 18 | 520    | Coastal Wetland         | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 19 | 610    | Natural Barren Land     | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 20 | 620    | Non-Natural Barren Land | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 21 | 710    | Inland Water            | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |
| 22 | 720    | Seawater                | 0       | 0       | 0      | 0      |

Table 1 Carbon pools table

### 1.3. InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model outputs

The geographical distribution of carbon storage in the research region was compiled using the InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model as a raster output (Fig. 4). The findings also demonstrated that various forms of land cover had variable carbon storage capacities. In general, compared to other land cover types, vegetative land cover types retain comparatively more carbon (Chacko et al. 2019; Kumarasiri et al. 2021). However, as Paquit (2017) explains, agricultural land cover types' capacity to store carbon is often disregarded or even overestimated. However, by storing more soil carbon, agricultural land also makes a major contribution to overall carbon storage. The regional distribution of carbon storage throughout the nation is seen in Figure 4. According to calculations, South Korea's forests can store between 3,927 and 900,427 kg of carbon per tree. The carbon storage capacity of Korea's forests was estimated to range from 3.73 to 880.4 kg/tree. In the instance of the carbon storage function, altitude-dependent spatial variations were shown. In general, it was discovered that forests in urban regions had a relatively poor carbon storage function, whereas forests in natural settings with high forest ages, centered on the Baekdudaegan, had a high carbon storage function. This study analysis also supported earlier findings (Yoo Seong-jin et al., 2012) that the carbon storage function is more controlled by tree features, such as forest age, than by site factors, such as latitude.



Fig 4 Carbon storage map of South Korea using InVEST model.

Table 1 demonstrates that in comparison to other land cover categories, deciduous forest land, coniferous forest land, mixed forest land, non-irrigated land, and natural grassland all had considerably greater carbon storage rates per hectare. Mixed Forest Land had the largest carbon storage out of the 22 land cover groups, with 6863.6 million tons, or around 27% of the total carbon storage in the research locations.



Fig 5 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon pools in each Land cover class in the study sites

Additionally, it demonstrates that deciduous forest area has absorbed much more carbon than coniferous forest land (6523.7 million metric tons), coming in second (5900.2 million metric tons). Additionally, 112.4 and 108.9 million metric tons of carbon are stored in natural and artificial grasslands, respectively.

The findings of the present study may be contrasted with those of the research conducted by Kumarasiri et al. (2021). In this work, carbon storage in the Samanalawewa watershed in Sri Lanka was evaluated using the InVEST carbon storage and sequestration model (version 3.7). Similar to the present work, they estimated the total carbon storage of the study region using the carbon data from four carbon pools: above-ground biomass, below-ground biomass, soil organic matter, and dead organic matter. The findings indicated that there were 17 different land cover classifications in the Samanalawewa watershed, with natural trees having significantly larger carbon storage values contained inside them while grasslands and scrublands had more moderate carbon storage values. Additionally, exceptionally low carbon concentrations from various land cover types, including industrial zones, agricultural zones, and grasslands, were noted (Kumarasiri et al. 2021). As a result, the research done by Kumarasiri et al. (2021) also demonstrates how the capacity for carbon storage is influenced by the kind of land cover and how natural vegetation has a positive correlation with carbon storage. The maximum carbon storage is among natural forests, according to Chacko et al. (2019), whereas semi-evergreen and deciduous forests have relatively low carbon storage. Furthermore, while the various tree species in forest plantations grow quickly, research by Lasco and Pulhin (2003) notes that natural forests have a far better capacity to store carbon than do forest plantations. Natural shrublands and forests often retain a larger proportion of carbon because they have the capacity to constantly absorb carbon over a long growth cycle (Sedjo 2001). This shows that, in comparison to other forms of land cover, natural forests are capable of sequestering and storing large quantities of carbon.

Numerous researchers from across the globe have used the same modelling strategy to calculate the geographical distribution of carbon storage and forecast the overall amount of carbon storage in a certain study region (Babbar et al., 2021; Chacko et al., 2019; He et al., 2016; Jiang et al., 2017; Kumarasiri et al., 2021; Lyu et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019). A forest's quality and significance in terms of carbon storage and sequestration may be determined using the InVEST carbon storage and sequestration modelling approach, according to Kumarasiri et al. (2021). Additionally, by using this modelling technique, it is possible to evaluate how proposed conservation priority areas may affect natural forests and the capacity for total carbon storage (He et al., 2016; Lyu

et al., 2019). Scenario analysis requires the creation of future land cover data and the determination of carbon pool values for each kind of land cover since these two fundamental data inputs serve as the foundation for the whole model (Sharp et al. 2018). According to Wu et al. (2015), mapping out conservation priority areas in terms of their ability to store carbon in natural forests using the CLUE-S (conversion of land use and its effects at a small regional extent) model may be helpful.

#### 2. Habitat prediction model and accuracy verification

### 2.1 Endangered species distribution

In this research, Accipitersoloensis, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Ninoxscutulata, and Prionailurus, five endangered species in South Korea, were evaluated for appropriate habitat regions using the environmental factors and species distribution model MaxENT. From this model, the richness maps for the five national species were created.

The AUC value of the ROC curve was employed to validate the correctness of the MaxEnt model of these species prior to analyzing the species richness maps. Because of this, the target species' AUC values varied from 0.760 to 0.890, showing that all models had a respectably high degree of accuracy.

2.1.1 Distribution of Accipiter soloensis (Accipitersoloensis)

According to the Accipitersoloensis species distribution model, the AUC value was 0.863, demonstrating great accuracy. High habitat appropriateness for Accipitersoloensis was mostly found in mild terrain with modest slopes, while in places with slopes larger than 30 degrees, suitability steadily dropped. However, it was not discovered that altitude made a substantial difference. High light levels are often preferred by forests, particularly towards their borders. (Figure 6).



Fig 6 Habitat prediction of Accipitersoloensis

## 2.1.2 Distribution of Lutra (Lutra)

Looking at the median distribution model findings for the species of Lutra, the

AUC value in this instance was 0.760, which was the model accuracy among the 5 species chosen for this research but demonstrated a respectable level of accuracy. Most of the habitat-suitable regions for wildcats were found to be those near inland water and forests at lower elevations, suggesting that they were the land cover classes most susceptible to water source areas (Figure 7).



Fig 7 Habitat prediction of Lutra

2.1.3 Distribution of Martes Flavigulakoreana (Martes flavigula koreana)

According to the Martes flavigula koreana species distribution model, the AUC value was 0.799, indicating a comparatively high level of accuracy. Martens need more challenging environments than wildcats and moose, and most of the places with good habitat appropriateness for martens were forested regions with high elevations and steep slopes. In addition, it was discovered that Jeju Island's mid-mountain regions provided martens with a decent habitat. They were mostly found in the Baekdudaegan area, which has extensive forests and extremely undulating terrain. Coniferous forests were favored above other kinds of forests (Figure 8).



Fig 8 Habitat prediction of Martes Flavigula

### 2.1.4 Distribution of Ninox Scutulat (Ninoxscutulata)

According to the Ninox Scutulata species distribution model's output, which demonstrated great accuracy, the AUC value was 0.856. The majority of the grasslands and woodland borders at relatively low elevations were places with excellent habitat appropriateness for Ninox Scutulata. The same applied to different vegetation kinds (Figure 9).



Fig 9 Habitat prediction of Ninox Scutulat

# 2.1.5 Distribution of Prionailurus (Felis Bengalensis Euptilura)

The AUC score was 0.890 and has a good level of accuracy based on the Prionailurus species distribution model. The land cover categorization for regions with a high habitat appropriateness for cats, such as coniferous forest areas, is forest areas (Figure 10).



Fig 10 Habitat prediction of Prionailurus Bengalensis

### 2.2 Normalization

### 2.2.1 Normalized endangered species diversity prediction model

Species diversity was used as the dependent variable in a stepwise regression analysis with 20 habitat factors acting as the independent variables in the species diversity prediction model stage. Prior to doing the regression analysis, the multicollinearity issue must be resolved. In general, multicollinearity is thought to occur when the tolerance limit is less than 0.1 or the variance inflation factor (VIF) exceeds 10. (Seung Jang et al., 2009). Therefore, it was determined that there was no multicollinearity issue in this research since the maximum variance inflation factor was 2.205 and the lowest value of the system was 0.454.

Through the processes of overlapping, summarizing, and standardizing, the habitat appropriateness of the five species mentioned above was constructed as a species richness map in the range of 0 to 1 (with 0 being the minimum and 1 being the maximum), and the computed values were dispersed at 0.2 intervals. A region with a value of 0 has no species among the five typical species, a value of 0.2 has one species, a value of 0.4 has two species, a value of 0.6 has three species, and a value of 0.8 has four species. The area where all five species are found is referred to as Species 1.0. The research revealed that 78.16% of the nation had values of 0.2 or above, suggesting that at least one species (Felis bengalensis Euptilura, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Accipiter Soloensis, and Ninox Scutulata) would be present. When examining the overall pattern of species richness distribution, it can be seen that species richness was highest in lowland forests and portions of forest borders at low altitudes, as well as in deep forests at high elevations, such as Mt. Seorak, Mt. Odae, and Mt. Backdudaegan.



Fig 11 Normalized endangered species diversity prediction model

According to the research, at least one species (Accipitersoloensis, Lutra, Martes flavigula koreana, Ninoxscutulata, and Prionailurus) with values of 0.2 or above would exist in??% of the nation. When examining the overall trend of species richness distribution pattern, it can be seen that species richness was high in lowland forests, part of the forest borders at low altitudes, and deep forests at high elevations, such as Mt. Seorak, Mt. Odae, and Mt. Backdudaegan.

On the other hand, the number of bird species was negatively correlated with both the distance from the valley and the distance from mixed forests. Accordingly, the more space there is between a location and a valley or mixed forest, the more forest algae there will be. The aquatic ecosystem that thrives within of forests depends on valleys. In valleys, water flows and weeds and plants develop around them, providing a favourable environment for birds to survive or breed. The larger the species variety, the closer the distance is to the valley. Additionally, the biodiversity is larger the closer the distance is to the mixed forest since mixed forests provide more food and shelter than simple forests like deciduous and coniferous forests.

#### 2.2.2 Normalized carbon storage

The geographical distribution of carbon storage in the research region was compiled into a raster output according to the InVEST model for carbon storage and sequestration. The results also revealed that carbon storage differed amongst various kinds of land cover. In comparison to other land cover types, vegetative land cover types often store more carbon (Chacko et al. 2019; Kumarasiri et al. 2021). Nevertheless, as Paquit (2017) explains, agricultural land cover types' capacity to store carbon has been disregarded and could even be overestimated. By retaining more soil carbon, agricultural land also made a substantial contribution to overall carbon storage.

The regional distribution of carbon storage throughout the nation is seen in Figure 12. In South Korea, forests are estimated to store carbon at a rate ranging from 3,927 kg per tree to 900,427 kg per tree. In South Korea, the projected carbon storage value of forests varies from 3.73 kg per tree to 880.4 kg per tree at its highest. The spatial

differences according to altitude were shown for the carbon storage function. In general, forests around Baekdudaegan had a high capacity to store carbon, compared to those in developed areas, which had a relatively low capacity. The study analysis also supported the findings of earlier studies (Yoo Seong-jin et al., 2012), which found that site factors like latitude have less of an impact on carbon storage function than do tree features like forest age.



Fig 12 Carbon storage map of South Korea using InVEST model

The soil layer, which made up 82.86% of the total carbon storage across the four layers at the research sites, had the highest value for carbon storage, as shown in Figure 13. Furthermore, the soil layer supplied more than 60% of the carbon storage for each land cover, showing that soil is the most significant carbon sink for each ecosystem.



Fig 13 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon storage in each

As seen in Figure 14, compared to the other land cover categories, Forest Land and Agricultural Land had a comparatively larger quantity of carbon storage per hectare. The biggest carbon storage was found on mixed forest land, which made up 52.87% of the total carbon stored in the research sites.



Fig 14 Pie chart showing the percentages of Carbon storage in each Land cover in the study sites

Additionally, Table 2 below demonstrates that broadleaved forests store much more carbon than coniferous forests, coming in second with 5900.2 million tons, followed by 6523.7 million tons. Additionally, 112.4 and 108.9 million tons of carbon are stored in natural and man-made grasslands, respectively.

| LULC type               | Mean C (t/ha) | Total C (million t) | C in each LULC(%) |
|-------------------------|---------------|---------------------|-------------------|
| Residential             | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Industrial              | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Commercial              | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Communication           | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Transportation          | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Public Utilities        | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Paddy Field             | 35            | 151.8               | 1.5               |
| Non-Irrigated Land      | 105.3         | 1938.8              | 11.2              |
| Protected Cultivation   | 15            | 39.5                | 0.4               |
| Orchard                 | 65            | 0.5                 | 0                 |
| Other Cropland          | 14            | 62.8                | 0.6               |
| Deciduous Forest Land   | 256.3         | 6523.7              | 28                |
| Coniferous Forest Land  | 250.8         | 5900.2              | 28                |
| Mixed Forest Land       | 257.1         | 6863.6              | 27                |
| Natural Grassland       | 86            | 112.4               | 1.8               |
| Non-Natural Grassland   | 85.6          | 108.9               | 1.5               |
| Inland Wetland          | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Coastal Wetland         | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Natural Barren Land     | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Non-Natural Barren Land | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Inland Water            | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |
| Seawater                | 0             | 0                   | 0                 |

Table 2 Carbon storage in each Landcover type

#### 2.3 Trade-off and Synergies

This research used a variety of techniques to examine the degree to which carbon priority were geographically linked with habitats for endangered species. First, we tested whether carbon was related to the model species richness of all endangered avian and animal species using linear least squares regression. By adding the distribution models, it was possible to determine the endangered species' model habitat distribution.

All habitats for endangered species showed a strong correlation with carbon (Fig. 2, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.53$ , p < 0.001). Although it was significant, the link was less strong for mammals (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.42$ , p < 0.001), than it was for birds (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.58$ , p < 0.001). High value endangered species habitat is typically found in high

elevation forests, such as Mt. Seorak, Mt. Odae, and Mt. Backdudaegan. As shown in Figure 15, however, there was significant overlap between high-ranking cells for each of the solutions, suggesting that these areas may also have high carbon storage potential. According to the carbon-only weighting, the western boundary of the rainforest zones was given priority, suggesting that this region may be of high value for sequestering carbon, but not for protecting endangered species.

For each of the solutions, there was a significant geographical overlap of highranking cells (Fig. 15), showing that places with high value as endangered species habitat, typically the eastern sections of Mt. Backdudaegan, also had high potential for carbon storage. As a result of the carbon-only weighting, a priority was given to the western boundary of the rainforest zones, suggesting such these regions may be of high value for sequestering carbon but not for endangered species habitat.



Fig 15 The priority areas in the region of South korea. Left to right: a) Endangered species habitat ; b) Endangered species habitat and carbon are weighted equally; and c) carbon storage only. The far right map d) shows the distribution of the area above the overlapping

# **VI.** Discussion

In this area, the priorities weighted by either carbon or habitat for endangered species were very congruent. Some endemic species may not be protected as well if they are not taken into account specifically. In this research, the importance of looking beyond simply maximizing carbon gains or focusing solely on species diversity is highlighted. It might cause significant species to be missed.

There is an advantage to living in this area in that if habitat for endangered species is prioritized, there is only a small trade-off with carbon. The Mt. Backdudaegan areas have the largest biomass and concentration of narrow-range endemics, resulting in high spatial congruence for habitat priority for endangered species and carbon. Although not the only place in this circumstance, many regions face a considerable trade-off (Venter et al., 2013). (Thomas et al., 2013). Considering cost, this trade-off becomes even more problematic, yet if regions are prioritized for preservation merely based on the least expensive means of lowering emissions, many significant biodiversity hotspots might be missed (Venter et al., 2009). At a broad scale, the association between carbon biomass and habitat for endangered species is positive and larger than that seen in this area (Strassburg et al., 2010). Nevertheless, throughout history, it has been recognized that protecting biodiversity through planning must take into account complementarity and irreplaceability in addition to species richness (Margules and Pressey, 2000). This research has shown that, while simultaneously boosting the capacity for carbon storage, planned conservation action might have a large positive impact on the habitat of endangered species in this area.

A never-ending task is to develop regulatory frameworks that enhance the financial viability of carbon offset initiatives and habitat improvements for endangered species. More research is needed in Australia to determine the viability and implementation of carbon farming initiatives in order to conserve the habitat of species facing extinction as well as to mitigate the effects of climate change (van Oosterzee, 2012). The difficulty and expense of the project creation process, Nevertheless, restrict the adoption of carbon offset initiatives (van Oosterzee, 2012). Since non-additional projects may sell carbon at a cheaper price during the reverse auction process, these variables also favor projects that would have occurred otherwise.

The findings of this study offer suggestions for the targeted preservation of habitats for endangered species as well as for the targeted conservation and regeneration of vegetation in areas with high carbon storage potential. Particularly atop Mt. Backdu daegan, the area has unspoiled regions with significant biological value that are not officially protected. Due to South Korea's present development policy, all of the study's bioregions have seen considerable losses in the amount of existing and regrowing vegetation, and further losses are probably on the way.

As a result, chances to stop more clearance should be looked into, especially in the high-priority regions. Strong regulatory frameworks must be combined with opportunities and incentives to minimize vegetation loss in order to prevent large-scale clearance. A combination of incentives and regulation is necessary to prevent further loss of biodiversity (Evans, 2016).

Restoration efforts should be prioritized in areas of high biodiversity value that have

-50-

previously undergone severe deforestation and fragmentation. This research emphasizes the importance of these areas for vertebrate conservation since they have high levels of endemism. Sustainable long-term possibilities, like carbon storage, that have a considerable potential to offer triple bottom line benefits need to be investigated in light of continuous deforestation and development (Hatfield-Dodds et al., 2015; Russell-Smith et al., 2015).

By recovering cleared areas in this area, significant carbon and habitat advantages for endangered species might be attained. And a high-priority activity, especially for the region's sparsely dispersed endemic species, has been identified: restoring important refugia for species under climate change (Shoo et al., 2011).

Even while the endangered species habitat has been taken into consideration when calculating carbon offsets, other possible ecological and social effects of carbon pricing systems have also drawn attention. For instance, it has been proposed that reforestation for carbon sequestration may have a detrimental impact on displacement of hydrological flows or displacement of food production on marginal agricultural land (Jackson et al., 2005). Fortunately, the majority of these won't likely cause problems in the area. There is evidence that afforestation in South Korea is expected to reduce environmental hazards, especially hydrological risks, to agricultural output.

Another major issue is the improper administration of forest management, which puts forest people in danger of being evicted and marginalized (Sikor et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in South Korea, "carbon farming" is seen as having a considerable potential to provide indigenous people with economically worthwhile labor on the land via the application of traditional burning techniques.

The management of biological processes that result in carbon sequestration is another issue with carbon markets in other regions of the globe, since it reduces the value of endangered species' habitats. Outside of the black and green are areas with lingering vegetation (Accad and Neldner, 2015). Managers who allow natural processes to achieve better results for the endangered species habitat would receive less compensation from carbon payments under certain carbon pricing arrangements than those who only focus on carbon (Galatowitsch, 2009). Fortunately, the Carbon Farming Initiative and its successor, the Emissions Reduction Fund, have particular techniques that take into account these natural processes, and there is space for other countries to adopt comparable approaches (van Oosterzee, 2012). Carbon markets should be modified wherever feasible to prevent encouraging undesirable results. Designing policies to prevent projects from being too narrowly focused (such as concentrating on a specific ecosystem function like carbon) is one possibility. Another is investigating ecological uncertainty and the political, economic, and social environment in which the policy could be implemented (Lindenmayer et al., 2012). Future carbon storage prospects should undergo thorough analyses of biodiversity protection; this might be encouraged by rewards for better results for the endangered species habitat. Additional efforts should be done in the South Korean context to guarantee the additionality of carbon storage operations and the protection of endangered species habitat.

This analysis shows how to prioritize the many advantages of carbon and endangered species habitat while taking into consideration both of their futures. The identification

of significant areas that are now degraded and should be prioritized for restoration efforts is made possible using data on carbon storage capacity paired with future priorities for endangered species habitat. Valuable but vulnerable sites might be given priority for conservation efforts in intact regions. In an era of fast global change, this kind of conservation planning, which considers numerous advantages and future concerns, is essential for effective conservation results.

## **VI.** Conclusion

Endangered species habitat comprises regional habitat conditions across a greater area having a comparable natural assemblage of endangered species, as well as local species diversity and carbon storage.

This research set out to (1) characterize the broad linkages between production possibilities for combinations of carbon storage and habitat for endangered species and (2) pinpoint the management factors that have the greatest impact on joint production relationships. We have identified local stand characteristics associated with carbon storage, as well as endangered species diversity, in order to maximize opportunities for carbon storage and endangered species habitat conservation.

The study took place in South Korea, which has a lot of endangered species habitat. Additionally, this area has a lot of potential for sequestering carbon. The prioritization of restoration and preservation in places with high endangered species habitat value and carbon storage potential will be influenced by the identification of priority locations for endangered species habitat conservation and carbon storage. With the existing distribution of species in mind, this analysis considered the endangered species' habitat as well as the potential for carbon sequestration. Priorities for spatial conservation were determined for the present and two future time periods using the systematic conservation planning tool Zonation (Moilanen et al., 2014) (2055, 2085). We next evaluated changes in spatial priority when various benefits were taken into account by incrementally increasing the weighting of carbon in relation to endangered species habitat. This was done to determine the best course of action for all priorities.

The findings pinpoint conservation goals for space that are resilient to numerous advantages.

This informational synthesis may direct spatially explicit national forest evaluations of possible co-benefits, operationalize spatial goals, and inspire reactive or proactive conservation activities.

## **Bibliography**

- Accad, A., Neldner, V.J., 2015. Remnant Regional Ecosystem Vegetation in Queensland, Analysis 1997–2013. Brisbane, Queensland Department of Science, Information Technology and Innovation.
- Alexander, S., Nelson, C.R., Aronson, J., Lamb, D., Cliquet, A., Erwin, K.L., Finlayson, C.M., de Groot, R.S., Harris, J.A., Higgs, E.S., Hobbs, R.J., Lewis, R.R.R., Martinez, D., Murcia, C., 2011. Opportunities and challenges for ecological restoration within REDD+. Restor. Ecol. 19, 683–689.
- Anderson, B.J., Armsworth, P.R., Eigenbrod, F., Thomas, C.D., Gillings, S., Heinemeyer, A., Roy, D.B., Gaston, K.J., 2009. Spatial covariance between biodiversity and other ecosystem service priorities. J. Appl. Ecol. 46, 888–896.
- Australian Government, 2014. Emissions Reduction Fund White Paper. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
- Australian Government, 2015. Our North, Our Future: White Paper on Developing Northern Australia. http://northernaustralia.infrastructure.gov.au/white-paper/index.aspx.
- Authority, C.C., 2016. In: G, A. (Ed.), Towards a Climate Policy Tookit: Special Review on

Australia's Climate Goals and Policies. Climate Change Authority, p. 217.

- Burke, P.J., 2016. Undermined by adverse selection: Australia's Direct Action abatement subsidies. Econ. Pap. (online early).
- Dale, A., 2014. Trading ecosystem services across the north. Beyond the North-South Culture Wars: Reconciling Northern Australia's Recent Past With Its Future.

Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 113–123.

- Dale, A., McKee, J., Vella, K., Potts, R., 2013. Carbon, biodiversity and regional natural resource planning: towards high impact next generation plans. Australian Planner. 50, pp. 328–339.
- Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2004. Maximum Potential Biomass (Maxbio). Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra.
- Di Minin, E., Veach, V., Pouzols, F.M., Lehtomaki, J., Moilanen, A., 2014. A Quick Introduction to Zonation. Helsinki, Unigrafia OY. www.cbig.it.helsinki.fi/software. www.cbig.it.helsinki.fi/software.
- Dirzo, R., Raven, P.H., 2003. Global state of biodiversity and loss. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 28, 137–167.
- DSEWPaC, 2010. The Collaborative Australian Protected Areas Database 2010. Australian Government Department of Sustainability Environment Water Population and Communities, Canberra.
- DSITI, 2016. Land Cover Change in Queensland 2014–15: a Statewide Landcover and Trees Study (SLATS) Report. Department of Science Technology and Innovation, Brisbane.
- Evans, M.C., 2016. Deforestation in Australia: drivers, trends and policy responses. Pac. Conserv. Biol. 22, 130–150.
- Evans, M.C., Carwardine, J., Fensham, R.J., Butler, D.W., Wilson, K.A., Possingham, H.P., Martin, T.G., 2015. Carbon farming via assisted natural regeneration as a costeffective

mechanism for restoring biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Environ. Sci. Pol. 50, 114–129.

Forrest, J.L., Mascia, M.B., Pailler, S., Abidin, S.Z., Araujo, M.D., Krithivasan, R., Riveros, J.C., 2015. Tropical deforestation and carbon emissions from protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (PADDD). Conserv. Lett. 8, 153–161.

Galatowitsch, S.M., 2009. Carbon offsets as ecological restorations. Restor. Ecol. 17, 563–570.

- Grant, I., Jones, D., Wang, W., Fawcett, R., Barratt, D., 2008. Meteorological and Remotely Sensed Datasets for Hydrological Modelling: a Contribution to the Australian Water Availability Project. pp. 1–4.
- Gullison, R.E., Frumhoff, P.C., Canadell, J.G., Field, C.B., Nepstad, D.C., Hayhoe, K., Avissar, R., Curran, L.M., Friedlingstein, P., Jones, C.D., Nobre, C., 2007. Tropical forests and climate policy. Science 316, 985–986.
- Hamilton, C., Karoly, D.J., 2016. The Climate Change Authority's Special Review on Australia's Climate Goals and Policies: Towards a Climate Policy Toolkig. Minority Report. Climate Change Authority.
- Harvey, C.A., Dickson, B., Kormos, C., 2010. Opportunities for achieving biodiversity conservation through REDD. Conserv. Lett. 3, 53–61.

Houghton, R.A., Byers, B., Nassikas, A.A., 2015. A role for tropical forests in stabilizing

<sup>Hatfield-Dodds, S., Schandl, H., Adams, P.D., Baynes, T.M., Brinsmead, T.S., Bryan, B.A.,
Chiew, F.H.S., Graham, P.W., Grundy, M., Harwood, T., McCallum, R., McCrea, R.,
McKellar, L.E., Newth, D., Nolan, M., Prosser, I., Wonhas, A., 2015. Australia is 'free to choose' economic growth and falling environmental pressures. Nature 527, 49–53.</sup> 

atmospheric CO2. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 1022-1023.

- Jackson, R.B., Jobbágy, E.G., Avissar, R., Roy, S.B., Barrett, D.J., Cook, C.W., Farley, K.A., le Maitre, D.C., McCarl, B.A., Murray, B.C., 2005. Trading water for carbon with biological carbon sequestration. Science 310, 1944–1947.
- Jayanthi, K., Christine, J., 2016. Carbon emission risks and management accounting: Australian evidence. Accounting Research Journal 29, 137–153.
- Jones, D.A., Wang, W., Fawcett, R., 2007. Climate Data for the Australian Water Availability Project: Final Milestone Report. National Climate Centre, Australian Bureau of Meteorology.
- Jones, K.R., Watson, J.E.M., Possingham, H.P., Klein, C.J., 2016. Incorporating climate change into spatial conservation prioritisation: A review. Biol. Conserv. 194, 121–130.
- Kanowski, J., Catterall, C.P., 2010. Carbon stocks in above-ground biomass of monoculture plantations, mixed species plantations and environmental restoration plantings in north-east Australia. Ecol. Manag. Restor. 11, 119–126.
- Kujala, H., Moilanen, A., Araújo, M.B., Cabeza, M., 2013. Conservation planning with uncertain climate change projections. PLoS One 8, e53315.
- Lehtomäki, J., Moilanen, A., 2013. Methods and workflow for spatial conservation prioritization using Zonation. Environ. Model. Softw. 47, 128–137.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Hulvey, K.B., Hobbs, R.J., Colyvan, M., Felton, A., Possingham, H., Steffen, W., Wilson, K., Youngentob, K., Gibbons, P., 2012. Avoiding bio-perversity from carbon sequestration solutions. Conserv. Lett. 5, 28–36.
- Mackey, B.G., Nix, H.A., Hitchcock, P., 2001. The Natural Heritage Significance of Cape York

Peninsula. Anutech Pty Ltd, ANU, Environmental Protection Agency, Queensland State Government.

- Magnago, L.F.S., Magrach, A., Laurance, W.F., Martins, S.V., Meira-Neto, J.A.A., Simonelli,
  M., Edwards, D.P., 2015. Would protecting tropical forest fragments provide carbon and
  biodiversity cobenefits under REDD+ Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 3455–3468.
- Margules, C.R., Pressey, R.L., 2000. Systematic conservation planning. Nature 405, 243–253.
- Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C., Bullock, J.M., 2013. Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, p. 280.
- Mawdsley, J.R., O'Malley, R., Ojima, D.S., 2009. A review of climate-change adaptation strategies for wildlife management and biodiversity conservation. Conserv. Biol. 23, 1080–1089.
- Metz, L., Davidson, O.R., Bosch, P.R., Dave, R., Meyer, L.A. (Eds.), 2007. Climate Change
  2007 Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the Fourth
  Assessment Report of the IPCC. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Mitchell, C.D., Harper, R.J., Keenan, R.J., 2012. Current status and future prospects for carbon forestry in Australia. Aust. For. 75, 200–212.
- Moilanen, A., Wintle, B.A., Elith, J., Burgman, M., 2006. Uncertainty analysis for regionalscale reserve selection. Conserv. Biol. 20, 1688–1697.
- Moilanen, A., Pouzols, F.M., Meller, L., Veach, V., Arponen, A., Leppanen, J., Kujala, H.,
  2014. Zonation Spatial Conservation Planning Methods and Software Version 4, User
  Manual. C-BIG Conservation Biology Informatic Group, University of Helsinki, Finland.
www.cbig.it.helsinki.fi/software. www.cbig.it.helsinki.fi/software.

- Paris Agreement, 2015. Annex to UNFCCC Draft Decision COP21. Adoption of the Paris Agreement (FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1).
- Phillips, S.J., Dudik, M., 2008. Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31, 161–175.
- Phillips, S.J., Anderson, R.P., Schapire, R.E., 2006. Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecol. Model. 190, 231–259.
- Polglase, P., 2009. Change land use to carbon forestry. In: Eady, S., Grundy, M., Battaglia, M., Keating, B. (Eds.), An Analysis of Greenhouse Gas Mitigation and Carbon Biosequestration Opportunities from Rural Land Use. CSIRO.
- Polglase, P.J., Reeson, A., Hawkins, C.S., Paul, K.I., Siggins, A.W., Turner, J., Crawford, D.F., Jovanovic, T., Hobbs, T.J., Opie, K., Carwardine, J., Almeida, A., 2013. Potential for forest carbon plantings to offset greenhouse emissions in Australia: economics and constraints to implementation. Clim. Chang. 121, 161–175.
- Preece, L.D.v.O., P., Dungey, K., Standley, P.-M., Preece, N.D., 2016. Ecosystem service valuation reinforces world class value of Cape York Peninsula's ecosystems but environment and indigenous people lose out. Ecosyst. Serv. 18, 154–164.
- Reside, A.E., VanDerWal, J., Phillips, B.L., Shoo, L.P., Rosauer, D., Anderson, B.J.,
  Welbergen, J.A., Moritz, C., Ferrier, S., Harwood, T.D., Williams, K.J., Mackey, B.G.,
  Hugh, S., Williams, S.E., 2013. Climate Change Refugia for Terrestrial Biodiversity:
  Defining Areas That Promote Species Persistence and Ecosystem Resilience in the Face
  of Global Climate Change. National Climate Change Adaptation Research Facility, Gold

Coast, p. 216.

- Rogelj, J., Meinshausen, M., Knutti, R., 2012. Global warming under old and new scenarios using IPCC climate sensitivity range estimates. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2, 248–253.
- Russell-Smith, J., Cook, G.D., Cooke, P.M., Edwards, A.C., Lendrum, M., Meyer, C.P., Whitehead, P.J., 2013. Managing fire regimes in north Australian savannas: applying Aboriginal approaches to contemporary global problems. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, e55– e63.
- Russell-Smith, J., Lindenmayer, D., Kubiszewski, I., Green, P., Costanza, R., Campbell, A., 2015. Moving beyond evidence-free environmental policy. Front. Ecol. Environ. 13, 441–448.
- Schmitz, O.J., Lawler, J.J., Beier, P., Groves, C., Knight, G., Boyce, D.A., Bulluck, J., Johnston,
  K.M., Klein, M.L., Muller, K., Pierce, D.J., Singleton, W.R., Strittholt, J.R., Theobald,
  D.M., Trombulak, S.C., Trainor, A., 2015. Conserving biodiversity: Practical guidance about climate change adaptation approaches in support of land-use planning. Nat. Areas J. 35, 190–203.
- Shoo, L.P., Storlie, C., Vanderwal, J., Little, J., Williams, S.E., 2011. Targeted protection and restoration to conserve tropical biodiversity in a warming world. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 186–193.
- Sikor, T., Stahl, J., Enters, T., Ribot, J.C., Singh, N., Sunderlin, W.D., Wollenberg, L., 2010.
  REDD-plus, forest people's rights and nested climate governance. Glob. Environ. Chang. 20, 423–425.
- Steffen, W., Fenwick, J., Rice, M., 2016. Land Carbon: No substitute for Action on Fossil Fuels,

Report Published by the Climate Council of Australian Ltd.

- Strassburg, B.B.N., Kelly, A., Balmford, A., Davies, R.G., Gibbs, H.K., Lovett, A., Miles, L., Orme, C.D.L., Price, J., Turner, R.K., Rodrigues, A.S.L., 2010. Global congruence of carbon storage and biodiversity in terrestrial ecosystems. Conserv. Lett. 3, 98–105.
- Thomas, C.D., Anderson, B.J., Moilanen, A., Eigenbrod, F., Heinemeyer, A., Quaife, T., Roy,D.B., Gillings, S., Armsworth, P.R., Gaston, K.J., 2013. Reconciling biodiversity andcarbon conservation. Ecol. Lett. 16, 39–47.
- Van Oosterzee, P., 2012. The integration of biodiversity and climate change: a contextual assessment of the carbon farming initiative. Ecol. Manag. Restor. 13, 238–244.
- Van Oosterzee, P., Preece, N., Dale, A., 2012. An Australian landscape-based approach: AFOLU mitigation for smallholders. Climate Change, Mitigation and Agriculture. Routledge.
- Venter, O., Laurance, W.F., Iwamura, T., Wilson, K.A., Fuller, R.A., Possingham, H.P., 2009. Harnessing carbon payments to protect biodiversity. Science 326, 1368.
- Venter, O., Hovani, L., Bode, M., Possingham, H., 2013. Acting optimally for biodiversity in a world obsessed with REDD+. Conserv. Lett. 6, 410–417.
- Warren, R., VanDerWal, J., Price, J., Welbergen, J.A., Atkinson, I., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Osborn, T.J., Jarvis, A., Shoo, L.P., Williams, S.E., Lowe, J., 2013. Quantifying the benefit of early climate change mitigation in avoiding biodiversity loss. Nat. Clim. Chang. 3, 678– 682.
- Williams, S.E., 2006. Vertebrates of the Wet Tropics Rainforests of Australia: Species Distributions and Biodiversity. Cooperative Research Centre for Tropical Rainforest

Ecology and Management, Rainforest CRC, Cairns, Australia, p. 282.

- Williams, P., Hannah, L.E.E., Andelman, S., Midgley, G.U.Y., AraÚJo, M., Hughes, G., Manne,
  L., Martinez-Meyer, E., Pearson, R., 2005. Planning for climate change: identifying
  minimum-dispersal corridors for the Cape Proteaceae. Conserv. Biol. 19, 1063–1074.
- Williams, S.E., Williams, Y.M., VanDerWal, J., Isaac, J.L., Shoo, L.P., Johnson, C.N., 2009. Ecological specialization and population size in a biodiversity hotspot: how rare species avoid extinction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 19737–19741.
- Williams, S.E., VanDerWal, J., Isaac, J., Shoo, L.P., Storlie, C., Fox, S., Bolitho, E.E., Moritz,C., Hoskin, C.J., Williams, Y.M., 2010. Distributions, life-history specialization, andphylogeny of the rain forest vertebrates in the Australian Wet Tropics. Ecology 91, 2493